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PETITION FOR REVIEW

A. Identity of Petitioner

Terry Riely and Petra Riely, husband and wife, ask this court to accept

review of the unpublished Court of Appeals—Division II decision

terminating review designated in Part B of this Petition.

B. Court of Appeal Decision

Petitioner's request the decision Robert Gimn, Respondent v5. Terry &

Petra Riely, et. al., Appellants under COA No. 48701-2-11 of the decision

filed on September 12, 2017 and the Order Denying Petitioner's Motion for

Reconsideration, dated January 19, 2018, be reviewed.

A copy of the decision is in the Appendix at pages A-1 through 23.

A copy of the Order Denying Petitioner's Motion for Reconsideration is in

the Appendix at pages A-24. A copy of the Order Denying Motion for

Publication is in the Appendix at pages A-25.

C. Issues Presented for Review

1. Does ROW 64.12.030 allow the court to make an equitable
award for attorney's fees where the timber trespass statute does not
provide for any attorney's fee award and such relief has never been
previously gi'anted by application ot tlie statute or discussed in any
case law?

2. Does the ̂'doctrine of proportionality' to offset an
equitable award of Gunn's attorney's fees against the small claims
damage action under RCW 4.84.250 for which the Riley's
prevailed following the remand judgment and further exclude
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Giuin's attorney fees on his non-prevailing claim previously
awarded under RCW 4.24.630?

3. Where tlie damages awarded the Plaintiff are less than the
amount offered by the Defendant pursuant to both RCW 4.84.250
and CR 68, would the Defendant be considered the statutorily
prevailing party and entitled to an award of reasonable attorney's
fees and an adjustment of costs? If so, did the lower courts commit
an error of law in denying such relief?

4. If the Defendants possessed an implied-easement over the
grassy path obtained from their common grantor, in a timber
trespass action do the facts and trial testimony justif}' use of the
mitigation statute (RCW 64.12.040) such that single damages are
appropriate as opposed to treble damages based on the evidence
establishing "probable cause"?

5. Whether the lower courts erred as a matter of law in ruling
that gM outstanding trial issues of the Plaintiff involving both mixed
legal and equitable claims are required to be settled by the Defendant
in order to detennine the statutorily prevailing party thereby
disregarding the express application of RCW 4,84.2d0 and CR 68.

D. Statement of the Case

In Gunn v. Riely. at 185 Wn. App. 517, 344 P.3d 1225 (2015), the

Division II Comt reversed Guntrs judgnaent tliat was based on RCW

4.24.630 (damage to land) and held that under the evidence presented at

trial, RCW 64.12.030 (timber trespass) controlled the measure of damages

to the Plaintiff. In its opinion, the appellate court also stated:

"Here, the trial court awarded attorney fees under the waste statute
(RCW 4.24.630). Because we are reversing the trial court's
judgment, Gunn is not entitled to attorney's fees unless the trial
court detennines that such fees are appropriate under the timber
trespass statute (RCW 64.12.030)."
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Following remand, because the timber trespass statute has no

attorneys' fee provision, the remand court awarded $17,500 in attorney fees

to Gunn finding bad faith on the part of the Riely's actions previously based

upon the trial courts findings of fact and conclusions of law in its application

of RCW 4.24.630. At the second appeal, in Gunn v. Riley No. 48701-IR

filed September 12, 2017, the Division II Court of Appeals affirmed this

ruling for equitable attorneys' fees and further held that all Riley's other

contentions failed and affirmed the actions of the remand court. •

Tliis case involved a dispute between Gunn and Riely concerning

the right to use an old logging road on Gunn land previously owned and

used by the parties' common grantor. The dispute subsequently evolved

into a timber trespass action against the Rileys for cutting alders in an area

referred to as the "grassy path". In his amended complaint, Gunn specified

that his timber damages were less than S10,000. (CP 314-317; CP-j20; (CP

325, CP 314). The Rielys had hired a well driller to construct a well on their

acreage adjoining tliat of Mr. Gunn. The well driller moved his equipment

down the old logging road (referred to at trial as the "grassy path") located

on the neighboring parcel of land owned by Gunn to access the well site on

the Riely property just below tlie teiminus of the grassy path. The well

driller cut down small saplings encroaching in or along grassy path that
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obstnicted movement of his equipment. Gunn claimed damages for timber

trespass on the basis of RCW 4.24.630 and RCW 64.12.030. (CP 314; CP-

325) Gunn's expert witness determined the value of the loss of the foliage

and alder saplings to be SI 53.00. (RP p. 107, In. 7-24). Prior to trial of the

action, the Rielys had submitted an Offer of Judgment pursuant to RCW

4.84.250 and an Offer of Settlement under CR 68 to settle Gunn's alleged

damage claims. (CP-267; CP-269). Both offers were rejected by Gunn and

the case went to trial. (CP-42-See Exhibit "D" attached thereto). Following

the trial, the trial judge adopted RCW 4.24.630(1) as the controlling statute

for damages to land and Gunn was aw-arded treble damages, restoration

costs, and $17,500 for attorney fees and other costs. The choice of RCW

4.24.630(1) rather than application of RCW 64.12.030 (timber trespass) led

to the first appeal of this case.

On October 14, 2015, at the conclusion of the remand hearing, Judge

Melly found damages for timber trespass in the sum of $153, trebled the

amount to $459.00 based upon "wrongflilness" under RCW 64.12.030.

(CP-122-126; CP-284, at 2.6, Ins. 3-5; and 2.13 and 2.14, Ins 23-27; CP-

286, at 2.19, Ins. 10-15). The remand court also awarded Gunn $17,500 in

attorneys' fees as a matter of equitable relief ruling that equity allowed the

attorneys' fee award since the Rielys' engaged in 'Tvillful misconduct' as
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previously found by the original trial court (Judge Taylor) when he adopted

RCW 4.24.630 as the controlling statute.' (CP-119; CP-122-126).

Following entry of the remand judgment, the Rielys moved for an

award of attorney's fees under their previously made Offer of Settlement

(RCW 4.84.250) and for a retaxation of costs under CR 68 (Offer of

Judgment). (CP-95; CP-88). The damages awarded to Gunn following the

remand were approximately 50% less than the amount offered him in

settlement by the Defendants. (CP-269) That motion was also denied by

Judge Melly reasoning that all trial claims of the Plaintiff were not resolved

by tlie two settlement offers. (CP-20-21) The remand court also refused to

apportion or set-off attorneys' fees between the successful and non-

successful claims of the two litigants. (CP-20; CP-li3-118; CP-SS).

Following the denial by the Division II appellate court of their

motion for reconsideration, the Rileys have petitioned for review to tlie

Washington Supreme Court of the remand judgment. (CP-155; CP-147; CP-

09; CP-119, CP-122). The Rielys also have requested rexdew of tlie denial

' To support GumTs attorneys' fee award, Judge Melly stated at paragraphs 4, 6,
and 8 in the remand conclusions of law that:

"However, attomey's fees are recoverable in equity when tlie losing party's
action.s arise to bad faith, willful misconduct or wantonness (citation
omitted)....The trial court concluded that the defendants engaged in willful
misconduct. Plaintiff is awarded $17,500 iii attomey's fees against
Defendants." (CP-125).
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of their right to attorneys' fees and relaxation of costs as the "statutory

prevailing party" under both RCW 4.84.250 (the small claims statute) and

CR 68. (CP-267; CP-269)

The Rielys defended against Gunn's damage claims in part on the

basis that they held an implied easement to use the "gi'assy path". Their

affinuative defense to tlie amended complaint as to that issue stated;

"In the event that the Plaintiff establishes trespass on the part of the
Defendants, such trespass was casual or involuntary and not willful or
reckless, and/or was done with probable cause to believe that defendant's
had an interest in the area of tlie disputed property as envisioned pursuant
to RCW 64.12.040 based upon covenants and easements affecting the
burdened property...(CP-309; CP-322)

During the trial, the Rielys were permitted to present evidence that

they believed there was an implied easement right for their use of the grassy

path from tlie parties common grantors who were the developers of the

Storm King Ranch Large Lot Subdivision despite the inadvertent omission

of an expi'ess easement in Gunn's deed to the Riely's favor as the owners

of Parcel 2. (CP-309).

Joel Sisson, the subdivision developer and common grantor,

testified that he told the Rielys that they had a right to use the logging road

(grassy path) to access tlieir property. (VRP Vol. 1 page 154-154, Ins. 6-25;

VRP Vol. 1 page 157 Ins. 16-25; VRP Vol. 1 page 1-7; VRP Vol. 1 page

168, Ins 21-25, page 169, Ins. 1-2).
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Geographically, Parcels 1, 2, and 3 of the Stonn King Ranch Lai'ge

Lot Subdivision adjoin each other and have one common corner that was

near the center where the tree cutting activity took place that lead to this

lawsuit. (VRP Vol. 2, p. 33,11. 1-25). Running down from Sponberg Lane

through Gunn property was an old logging road that the witnesses at trial

referred to as the "grassy path"'. (VRP Vol. 2 p. 30, Ins. 1-19; Trial-Ex.12).

The Treerise's owned Parcel 3 of the Storm King development (the first

parcel sold in the development) and have never been parties to this

litigation. However, the Treerise's had a written easement that covered the

right to use the area referred to in trial as the "grassy path" that cut through

Gunn's land (Parcel 1). Shortly before trial, the Treerises released their

easement to Gunn by a quit-claim deed. (VRP Vol. 1, p. 73, Ins. 6-16;).

Prior to the Rielys" purchase of Parcel No. 2, Joel Sisson walked the

property with Teiny Riley and showed him the parcel's lines and corners.

(VRP Vol. 1, p. 149, In. 6-17). Fuitliennore, Sisson told him about being

able to use that logging road (grassy path) to eventually construct the

Rielys' home up on the top of the hill of Parcel No. 2, stating that at such

location the Rileys would have both a good mountain and water view. (VRP

Vol. 1, p. 166, In. 14-25; VRP p. 167 In., 1-4). The grassy path led to the

area upon which to access the best view for the Riely property to build a

house and was the area selected to locate the new well. (VRP Vol. 1 p. 152,
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In. 3-22; VRP p. 153, In. 21-25; VHP p. 154, in. 1-7). Sisson further testified

that it was always the developers' intention of the Storm King Subdivision

that the purchasers of Parcels 2 (ultimately bought by the Rielys) and Parcel

3 (owned by the Treerises) would have access to their property from the

gi-assy path tlirougli Parcel 1 (purchased by Gunn). ((VRP Vol. 1, p. 152,

In. 17-19). VRP p. 153, In. 21-25; VRP p. 154, In. 1-7). Sisson testified

that use of the grassy patlr was supposed to be written up such that the parcel

owners shared that logging road. (RP p. 154, In. 1j-20) Sisson further

testified that he later discovered that his attoniey who had drafted the

easements and maintenance agreements had written the use up for Paicel

No. 3 (purchased by the Treerises) but had inadvertently omitted the

easement language for Parcel No. 2 (purchased by the Rielys). Sisson

characterized the omission stating that "someone had dropped the ball"

implying that his attorney accidentally forgot to put the express easement

language in Gunn's real property deed (other than that covering Parcel 3

owned by the Treerises). Sisson never caught the omission of the express

easement for the benefit of Parcel 2 before to the sale of Paicel 1 to Mr.

Gunn. (VRP p. 154, In. 6-21; RP p. 157, In. 16-21; VRP p. 158, In. 3-8). In

discussing the issue of easement, Sisson testified that he believed he

communicated with Gunn about the right of the Rielys to use the grassy

path. (VRP Vol. l,p. 156,11. 3-16).
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Testimony from Giinn confirmed that the grassy path was gradually

being obscured by the natural growth of the foliage (VRP Vol 1, p. 84, In.

1-13; CP-12). Gunn hired a full bouadai7 survey of his property from

James Wengler, a licensed smweyor. (VRP p. 27,11. 9-18). In preparing the

Gunn sur\'ey, Wengler mapped the logging road (grassy path) and tlie extent

of the alder tree clearing along the grassy path. (RP p.28, In. 7-11; p. 29, In

5-9). Wengler testified that the cutting of the trees took place near the

approximate boundary between Pai'cel 2 and Parcel 3. Wengler testified

that to his observation the grassy path had been a road at one time. (RP p.

31, In. 6-16). In cross-examination testimony, Gimn admitted that Mr. Riely

was consistent in his assertion that they always had a right of use of the

grassy path based on statements made to them by Sisson. (RP p. 185, In. 24-

25; RP p. 186, In. 1-2). Prior to buying Parcel 1, Gunn admitted that he had

walked or drove through the property with Joel Sisson. They came to the

grassy path but did not drive down it. (A'RP p. 121, In. 8-18), At trial, Gunn

admitted that he obsei-ved the grassy path and saw that it lead down fi-om

Parcel 1 to Parcel 2 and Parcel 3. He stated that he did not ask Joel Sisson

how long the grassy path had been in existence before his purchase of Parcel

1. Gunn testified that he was also not interested to what use the grassy path

had been made. (VRP p. 122, In. 1-22, VRP p. 123, In. 3-4). Teixy Riely

Page 9



testified that he used the grassy path several times per year. (RP p. 173, In.

19-25; RP p. 174, In. 1-6).

E. Argument Why Review Should Be Accepted

1. The timber trespass statute does not authorize an
equitable award of attorney of attorneys' fees.

The Division II- Court of Appeals holdings in Gunn v. Riley No. 48701-

11 (2018), affii-ming the remand court's grant of an equitable award of

attorney's fees stemming from a timber trespass action under RCW

64.12.030 is a significant departure after 150 years of case law interpreting

the timber trespass statute as summarized in Broiighton Lumber Co v, BNS.F

Railway Co. 174 Wn. 2d 619, 636-37, 278 P. 3'''' 173 (2012) The decision

in Gwin v. Riley (2018) is in conflict with many decisions of the Supreme

Court in relation to attorneys' fee award under application of RCW

64.12.030 and is contrary of the statutory authority provided by the

legislature in consideration of this subject matter.

Washington's original timber trespass statute, first passed in 1869

and currently codified under RCW 64.12.030 reads in pertinent part:

"Whenever any person shall cut dowiu girdle or othenvise injure, or
carry off any tree, timber or shmb on tire land of another person...vviY/ioHt
lawful authority, in an action by such person....against the person
committing such trespasses or any of them, if judgment be given for the
plaintiff, it shall be given for treble the amount of damages claimed or
assessed therefore, as the case may be."
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The underlying policy of whether equity allows for attorney fees in

timber trespass actions involves an issue of substantial public interest that

should be determined or clarified by the Washington Supreme Court. RCW

64.12.030 is silent about any awai'd of attorney's fees in situations where

the statute is applicable. However, whether to allow attorneys fees undei

the timber trespass statute should also be a legislative detennination. If that

body was inclined to adopt a provision for attorneys' fees under timber

trespass, it could have amended the statute at the same time in 1994 when

it was discussing the adoption of RCW 4.24.630 (waste to land statute). It

is significant that the legislature did not undertake any rewriting of RCW

64.12.030 to accomplish the result of awarding attorneys' fees if that was

their intent.

RCW 64.12.030 has no mental state and applies equally to both

intentional or negligent takings, timber cutting, or removal or injury to trees

or shrubs on the land of another person. However, historically, from

research into the existing case law, no court discussion has ever occurred

whetlier the defendant's actions supported an equitable awai'd of attorneys'

fees as additional costs or damages under an award of single or treble

damages in a timber hespass action based on RCW 64.12.030.

For instance, in Brotighton Lumber Co v. BA'SF Railway Co. 174

Wn. 2d 619, 636-37, 278 P. 3'''' 173 (2012) the Washington Supreme Court
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summarized a litany o f cases specitically construing the factual application

of timber trespass statute (RCW 64.12.030) that resulted Ifom the entry of

land of another:

'"And in each of our cases construing the statute over the last
142 years, the defendant entered the plaintiffs property and
committed a direct trespass against the plaintiffs timber, trees, or
shrubs, causing immediate, not collateral, injury. Examples include:
Birchler, 133 Wash.2d at 106, 942 P.2d 968 (1997), where the
defendant encroached on plaintiffs' properties and removed trees
and slmrbbery; Guay, 61 Wash.2d at 473, 383 P.2d 296 (1963),
where the defendants cut a swath on plaintiffs property, destroyed
trees, brush, and slu-ubs, and denuded the strip; Miillally v. Parks, 29
Wash.2d 899, 190 P.2d 107 (1948), where the defendants entered a
disputed area and destroyed trees; Our cases demonstrate that the
statute applies only when a defendant commits a direct trespass
causing immediate injury to a plaintiffs trees, timber, or
shrubs Further, our canons and case law strongly suggest that the
legislature intended the timber trespass statute (RCW 64.12.030) to
apply only when a defendant commits a direct tiospass tlrat
immediately injures a plaintiffs tioes. See Broughton Lumber Co.
supra, at 640.

A review of each of the cases summarized above lack any discussion

of any equitable relief to the injured parties/property owners. None of those

actions resulted in any equitable award of attorneys' fees where treble

damages were awarded under RCW 64.12.030.

In Tatum v. R & R Cable, Inc., 30 Wn. App. 580, 585, 636 P.2d 508

(1981), the landowners sought damages for injuries to trees outside of a

utility easement. The tidal court had awarded treble damages and attorney

fees. However, the attorneys' fee award on appeal was reversed. The Court
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of Appeals—Division III court held that "RCW 64.12.030, relating to treble

damages, does not include attorney's fees".

However, case law has made it clear that "wrongful" is not the mere

act of coming onto to the land of another. See Cllpse v. MicheJs Pipeline

Construction Inc., 154 Wn. App. 573, 577 225 P. 3d 492 (2010).

Furthermore, equity cannot be a basis for awarduig attorney's fees unless

the cause of action was cognizable in equity. State v. Sizemore, 48 Wn.

App. 835. 839, 741 P.2d 572 (1987). In his amended complaint, Gunn had

raised two causes of actions at law, (1) timber trespass (RCW 64.12.030)

and (2) waste/damages to laird (RCW 4.24.630). Since both those claims

were actions at law, they were therefore not cognizable in equity. State v.

Sizemore, supra. Only RCW 4.24.630 by its express tenns allow-ed for an

award of attorney's fees if the actions were found "wrongful" under the

specific terms of the "waste" statute.

Washington courts have, as appropriate to a penal statute, naiTOwly

interpreted the punitive damages provision. Birchler v. Costello Land

Companv, Inc.,, 133 Wn.2d 106, 110-11, 942 P. 2d 968 (1997), Giays

Harbor Count}' v. Bay City Lumber Co., 47 Wn.2d 879, 886, 289 P.2d 975

(1955); Bailey v. Hayden, 65 Wash. 57, 61, 117 P. 720 (1911).

RAP 18.1(a) provides that "If applicable law giunts to a party the

right to recover reasonable attorney fees the party should devote a section
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of the brief for fees or expenses." No such argument appeared in Gunn's

appellate brief as the respondent in that matter.

At trial and on appeal, Gunn only proposed attorneys' fees under the

discredited use of RCW 4.24.630(1)—but never argued any equitable

theory as an alternative basis also to support an attorneys' fee award. It is

contended that Gunn's equitable argument was first raised to the remand

court as a tactical matter after tlie Rielys had filed a motion to be declared

the sta tutorily prevailing party after the judgment entered for timber trespass

damages on the basis of RCW 4.84.250 and CR 68.- (CR-95; CR-73; CP-

67; CP-20; CP-142-146; CP-226; RRP-p. 8, Ins 3-14; RRP- p. 12, Ins 12-

17).

It is well established that Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law

are required to establish an adequate record on review to support an

attomeys' fee award. Mahler v. Szucs, 135 Wn. 2d 398, 435, 957 P. 2d 632

(1998). A t the conclusion of the trial, Judge Taylor also made no findings

of fact or conclusions of law tliat equity was an alternative basis to support

an attorneys' fee award to tire Plaintiff. (CP-275). Also, an award of

attorneys' fees is usually considered a cost claim and not a damage claim.

- In Plaintiffs Response to Motion to Determine Damages Following Remand,
at page 4, lines 9-10; and line 24, Plaintiff at the remand hearing for tlie first
time stated, "The Court should award attorney's fees based upon equitable
considerations... .This is the type of action in equity a court should award
attorney's fees." (CP-226).
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0

of Joel Sisson is considered, the

See State Ex Rel Maori v. Bremerton, 8 |Wii. 2d 93, 113, 111 P. 2d 612

(1941). (The term 'costs' or 'expenses' as lised in a statute is not understood

ordinarily to include attorneys' fees...A court has no power to award costs

unless such power is derived from statute.

However, when the trial testimony

trial record does not support the finding tliat the Rielys' actions were

witliout "probable cause" or were "wrong^ful". Gunn's land was impressed

with an implied easement from the common grantor.

In Dreger v. Sullivan, 46 Wn. 2d 36,1278 P. 2d 647 (1955), tlie court

held that the owner of an easement by implied grant has the burden of

making any necessary improvements to tlie way.

It was held in Evich v. Kovacevicli, 33 Wn. 2d 151, 156-158, 204 P.

2d 839 (1949);

'•Easements by implication arise where property has been held in a
unified title, and during the such time an open and notorious seiwitude
has apparently been impressed upon pne part of the estate in tavor of
another part, and such seiwitude, at the time that die unity of title has
been dissolved by a division of the pijoperty or a severance of the title,
has been in use and is reasonable necessary for the fair enjoyment of the
portion benefited by such use. Th:e rule, then, is, that upon such
severance, there arises, by implication of law, a grant of the right to
continue such use....

The essentials to the creation of an easement by implication are, as
variously stated by this court, the following: (1) a former unity of title,
during which time the right of perrpanent user was, by obvious and
manifest use, impressed upon one part of the estate in favor of another
part; (2) a separation by a grant ol the dominant tenement; and (j) a
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reasonable necessity for the easement;in order to secure and maintain
the quiet enjoyment of the dominant estate.

There was no dispute that Gunn owned the seiwient estate. Despite

the absence of a specific grant of an express easement, the Rileys' had good

faith reason to believe that they possessed an implied easement from the

conmion-grantors and concomitantly a cbmmon law right to travel and

maintain the ''grassy path" through Gunn fjroperty to reach their land. (VRP

Vol 1, p. 123, In. 20-25; VRP p. 124, In. 1-13). (See also CP-5; CP-6; CP-

10, CP-11 which are references to Clerk's Papers used in first appeal.) This

position was acknowledged by Judge Taylor at the conclusion of the trial

court proceedings and is at odds with the trial court s findings of fact:

"So, at this point the que.stion arises how Mr. and Mrs. Riely were
to know this when it had been represented to them by Mr. Sisson that
they had an access easement? Mr. SiSson was a little bit unclear as to
what he had told them. 1 am satisfiedjrom the testimony that he made
that representation. I think that had tl^at not been the case, they would
not have had any other reason to think they had the right to use the
grassy lane.'^ (VRP Vol. 2, p. 39, Ins 9-\l).

On the basis of that the combined testimony of the witnesses and the

parties, the Riley's argued that they probable cause to believe that they

had an implied easement and the right to use the grassy path and therefore

single damages as opposed to treble daraajges were appropriate if a trespass

had indeed occurred based on the mitigation factors addressed in ROW

64.12.040 (the companion statute to the timber trespass statute).

Page 16



On that basis also, the Supreme Court shouid also accept review of
i

this case to clarify the definition of "probable cause" in the timber trespass

mitigation statute.
i

2. Under RCVV 4.84.250 an award of attorneys' fees to the
statutorily prevailing parly is mandatory in order to encourage pre-
trial settlements of small claims. The policy of CR 68 policy is to re-tax
costs also as an instrument to foster settlement of claims without the

necessity of trial.

The Court of Appeals—Division 11 erred as a matter of law in

denying Riley attorney's fees under the application of RCW 4.84.250 for
_

prevailing on the timber damages claim that was asserted by Gunn to be less

than $10,000. Tlie judgment finally obtained by Gunn after the remand
i

hearing was less the amount of Riley's offbr of settlement (RCW 4.84.250)

and offer of judgment (CR 68) given pre-trial. Thus, the appellate court and
i

the remand court's award of attorney's fees and litigation costs to Gunn and

deny tlrem to Riley were emors of law.; Both lower court ignored the
i

operative words in RCW 4.84.250 that".. Mere shall be taxed and allowed

to the prevailing party as part of the costs of the action a reasonable amount

to be fixed by the court as attorneys' fees'".

A court's decision whether to awai'd costs and attorney's fees "is a

legal issue reviewed rie novo. " Sanders v. State, 169 Wn. 2d. 827, 866, 240

P. 3d 120 (2010); accord Ethridge v. Hwang, 105 Wn. App. 447, 460, 20

P.3d 958 (2001).

Page 17



84.250 does that statute indicate

Contrary to the remand court's opinion, the Rielys did not force

Gunn to litigate the issues between them. The correspondence and e-mail

treads evidence several offers of settlement of monetary damages greatly in

excess of the final fonnal offer of settlement, i.e. $5,000 and $8,500. (CP

23-28; (CP-24 and Ex. "A").

Nowhere in the reading of RCW 4,

that its applicability requires the settlement of all claims or theories of

recovery whether arising in law or equity. However, explicity, RCW

4.84.250 only has application where a claiin for damages is $ 10,000 or less.

Ultimately, when RCW 4.84.250 is considered, the only claim Gunn

prevailed upon was that his property was "cleared of any claim of an

easement of record. (CP 19-21; CP 22-26).

no adverse ruling was made concerning

based on an implied easement.

RCW 4.84.250, provides that a tria

party attorney fees if the statutory requirements are satisfied. Davy v. Moss

19 Wn. A.pp. 32, 33-34, 574 P. 2d 826 (1978). The term '[prevailingparty"

is not used in the usual sense. The companion statute of RCW 4.84.270

states that the defendant is the prevailing phrty if the recovery is as much as

or less than the amount offered in settlement by the defendant. Court policy

also holds that the size of the controversy must not be considered when

However, it should be noted that

the Riley's affirmative defense

court shall award the prevailing

Page 18



'One Receivables Management,

attorneys' fees are awarded under the statute on attorneys' fees as costs in

small claims actions. The purpose of RCW 4.84.250 is to encourage out-of-

court settlements and to penalize parties who unjustifiably bring or resist

small claims and to avoid the expense of trial. Target Nat. Bank v. Higgins,

180 Wn. App. 165, 173 321 P. 3d 1215 (2015); Kalich v. Clark, 152 Wn.

App. 544, 215 P. 3d 1049 (2009); Alliance

Inc., V. Lewis, 180 Wn. 2d 389, 325 P. 3d 904 (2014); Hanson v. Estell, 100

Wn. App. 281, 997 P. 2d 426 (2000).

CR 68 provides in material part;

"  An offer not accepted shall be deemed withdrawn and evidence
thereof is not admissible except in a proceeding to determine costs. If the
judgment finally obtained by the offeree is not more favorable than the
offer, the offeree must pay tlie costs incurred after the making ot the
offer....".

Wftien a plaintiff rejects an offer 6f judgment and later obtains a

judgment for an amount less than tlie defendant's offer, the defendant is

entitled to an award of costs pursuant to ̂ R 68 and tlie plaintiff does not

qualify as a "prevailing party" for puq^oses of RCW 4.84.030, which

provides for an awairi of costs to a prevailing party. See Tippie v. Delisle,

55 Wn. App. 417, 111 P. 2d 1080, review

2d 1078 (1989).

The Washington Supreme Court jshould accept review to clarify

these issues concerning the application of RCW 4.84.250 and CR 68 as not

denied 114Wn. 2d 1003, 788 P.
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equitable award. Furthennore,

being discretionary with the trial court but mandatory where the proper

procedure has been followed.

F. Conclusion

It is requested that our Supreme Court accept review and reverse the

Court of Appeals—Division II decision and find that imder the law Gunn's

attorneys' fees are not awardable under the timber trespass statute (RCW

64.12.030) nor are they awardable as an

Gunn waived an equitable argument for his attorneys' fees was not argued

at the trial or during the first appeal of this ease. Finally, the Rileys request

that they be deemed the statutorily prevailirig party and entitled to an award

of attorneys' fees and costs at trial and on appeal pursuant to the authority

of RCW 4.84.250, RCW 4.84.270, CR bsj RAP 18.1 and RCW 4.84.290

and such other relief as they may be entitled.

Respectflilly submitted this /2' day of February, 2018.

Law Office of Curtis G. Johnson, F.S.

Curti^ G. Johnson W^B.A. #8675
Attorney for Petitioner Riley
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UNPUBLISHED OPINION

Bjorgen, C.J. —This is the second appeal involving Robert Gunn's trespass and quiet

title claims against Teny and Petra Riely. In the first appeal,' we reversed the trial court's award

of damages to Gunn under the waste statute, RCW 4.24.630, and remanded for the tiial court to

determine damages under the timber trespass statute, RCW 64.12.030. On remand, the trial coort

awarded S459 in treble damages to Gunn under the timber trespass statute. Because tlie timber

' Gunn V. R/e/y, 185 Wn. App. 517, 527, 344 P.3d 1225, revieyv denied, 183 Wn.2d 1004 (2015)
{Gunn I).
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trespass statute has no attorney fee provision, it awaitied $ 17,500 in attorney fees in equity to Gunn

for the Rielys' bad faith based on the prior trial court's findings of fact and conclusions of law.
The Rielys appeal, arguing that (1) the law of the case doctrine precluded the trial court on

remand from awarding attorney fees in equity, (2) Gunn waived his claim for attorney fees m

equity, (3) attorney fees can only be awarded in equity when a violation of a temporary injunction

is involved, and that the trial court on remand (4) eired in detemiining that the Rielys engaged m

bad faith conduct based on the prior trial court's findings of fact and conclusions of law, which

determined liability only under the waste statute, (5) erred because the prior trial court's findings

and trial evidence show that the Rielys had "probable cause to believe" that they had an implied

easement under RCW 64.12.040, the mitigating circumstances exception of the timber trespass

statute, (6) abused its discretion in awarding $17,500 in attorney fees because, under tlie
proportionalily docmne, it failed to exclude costs related to the nonprevailuig claim of waste, and
(7) abused its discretion in finding that the Rielys were not tne prevailing party undsi RCW
4.84.250 and CR 68.

We hold that the Rielys' contentions fail and affirm the trial court.

FACTS

The relevant underlying facts are described in our opinion resolving the first appeal;

Gunn and the Rielys own adjacent propert>' in the Storm King Ranch subdiviswn
(Storm King) in Clalkm County, Washington. Joel Sisson, one oi the Stonn
developers, purchased the Storm King land and subdivided it.... Gunn owns parcel
1 and the Rielys own parcel 2.

A grassy path (an old logging road) . . . mns roughly parallel along the bounda^-
line between Guim's property and the Rielys' prop^srty, and ends near the common
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comer shared bv parcels 1 [and] 2. . . . The grassy padi is entirely on Qimn &
properhy and is about 75 feet from the boimdary line with the Rielys' property.

Between 2000 and 2009, the Rieiys used the grassy path to access parts of their
property. During that time, Giuin repeatedly told the Rieiys that they did noi. have
the right to use the grassy path and that they were not welcome on his land. The
Rieiys continued to teil Gunn that they believed that they had a right to use the path.
In the spring of 2008, Gunn went to the courthouss to inspect the deeds and
detenniiied that tiie Rieiys did not have an easement of record. Also in 2008, the
Rieiys asked to purchase an easement from Gunn, but he declined,

la 2009, the Rieiys hired Oasis Well Diiliing to build a well, on their property near
the common comer. The Rieiys directed Oasis to use the grassy path for access to
the Rieiys' property. When the Rieiys directed Oasis to use the grassy path, they
were aware that Oasis planned to cut trees on the grassy path to get to the drill site.
Oasis cut down approximately 107 of Gunn's trees along the grassy path to maxe
room for the equipment needed to drill the well.

Gunn V. Riely, 185 Wn. App. 517, 519-20, 344 P.3d 1225, review denied, 183 Wn.2d 1004

(2015) {Gunn I) (footnotes omitted).

Gumi filed an amended complaint in 2013, alleging that the Rieiys were liable under the

timber trespass statute, RCW 64,12.030, and subject to treble dtunages for a wiii&l trespass. As

an additional theory, he alleged that the Rieiys were liable under the waste statute, RCW 4.24.630,

for "vvronafully caus[ing] waste or injury to the land," Clerk's Papers (CP) at ol6. Guiui also

asked tiie court for injunctive relief to remove and enjoin use of a well that the Rieiys installed 30

feet within the border of Gunn's property. Further, Gunn requested injunctive relief to prevent the

Rieiys from continuing to enter his property and asked for a judgment quieting title against any

claim of the Rieiys for an easement over the grassy path. The complaint also stated that "[cJhe

award of damages for all claims will not exceed ... $ 10,000." CP at 319.

As litigation proceeded, the Rieiys and Gurni stipulated to dismissing Gunn's claim for

injunctive.relief concerning the Rieiys' well. Further, the Rieiys made an ofrer of s,^ttlem,.nt
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pursuant to RCW 4.84.250 and .280 to settle Gunn's "[tjiwiber [t]respass [cjlaim against them" for

S1,000. CP at 269. The Rislys also mads an offer ofjudgment pursuant to CR 68, offering $ 1,000

for the timber trespass claim, $50 for service of process, S230 for tire superior court filing lee, and

S200 for the attorney fees. Gunn rejected these offers, purportedly because they tailed to settle the

quiet title action.

At trial, ''Gunn moved in limine to .. . prevent the Rielys from bringing a quiet title action

to establish an implied easement because the Rielys did not plead these claims and Gunn dia not

have notice of these claims." Gunn I, 185 Wn. App. at 522 (footnote omitted). The trial court did

not allow the Rielys to bring a quiet title action, but permitted them to present evidence of an

implied easement for the limited purpose of defending against Gunn's claims. M.

At the end of trial, the trial court entered the following pertinent factual findings:

1. FINDINGS OF FACT

1.14 Between 1999, when Mr, Gunn purchased his property, and 2009, when the
tree cutting took place that [led] to iiiis litigation, Mr. Gunn recaiied and recounted
at least five confrontations ha had had with his neighbors, the Rielys, on his
property—some less friendly than others. . . .

1.15 During these contacts, however, Mr. Guim testified consistently that he made
it clear that the Rielys were on his property, that they were trespassing, that they
were not invited guests, and that they were not welcome.

1.17 It appears that in the spring of 2008 the last contact of significance occurred
prior to the tree removal. . . .

1.19 . .. [Tjhe two gentlemen had a conversation during which Mr. Gurm made it
clear that they were trespassing on bis property by using the grassy path and that



No. 48701-2-II

there was no easement there for their use. He testified tiiat Mr. Riely verbally
pushed back by indicating that Mr. Sisson, the man who sold parcel two to tie
Rielys, had represented to the Rielys that they did in fact have the light to use tnc
grassV path as [an] easement to access their property-.

1.20 Mr. Gunn told him that he had reviewed tlie county records and that they did
not have an easement.

1.21 Mr. Riely was not accepting ofMr. Gunn's representation about the easement,
but he did acknowledge that one thing that conversation made absolutely clear was
that the property they were on was owned by Mr. Gunn, and there was no question
about that.

1 22 He questioned whether there was a discussion about them having any right to
use that property owned by Mr. Gunn. This is where the Riely[]s big mistake came
in. The property was clearly owned by Mr. Gunn and that has never been contested.

1 ?3 The issue was whether or not the Rielys had obtained any right of use with
regard to that grassy pathway. The Riely[]s did not then take reasonable steps to
confii-m their right to use tliat portion of Mr. Gunn's property or they used it
knowing that they did not have a right to do so.

1 '74 The next events of significance occurred on July 27, 2009. Mr. Gunn was on
■ vacation visiting his mother in Minnesota. He got a call from ... his neighbor to
the west, indicating that someone was cutting trees on his property. ... He came
home as'quickly as he could He then saw the damage, counting 107 visible
tree stumps, others perhaps not visible, and all of the trees that had been cut and
simply piled or thrown alongside the grassy pathway, no attempt having been made
to remove them or clean them up.

1.30 One thing is now clear after hearing all of the testimony; There is not an
easement of record for anybody over the grassy path. ...

1.31 . .. If there had been an easement in favor of Ivlr. and Mrs. Riely, it would
have ... appeared on the deed. ...

1 32 The question aiises as to how Mr. and Mrs. Riely were to know this when it
had been represented to them by Mr. Sisson that they had an access easement. Mr.
Sisson was a little bit unclear as to what he had told them, but I am satisfied from
the testimony that he made that representation. I think had that not been the case,
they would not have had any other reason to think they had the right to use t e
grassy path.
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i  So how would the defendants know? By looking at the face of their deed1.33 So how wouia me aeic ^ rqhe preliminary commitment
where an easement wouid have to desoriD , . ■ • L J f
for title insurance ...[, or] their policy of title insurance itself. -

1 39 The biggest mistake the defendants made was not maldng tha^nquiry
the issue hafobviously been raised by Mr. Gunn m no uncertain terns.
i 40 The Defendants have raised the issue tiiat the trees w^re
property, but it was done by the well driller, and we had no idea the dnlLr was
going to do that--they were an independent contractor.

1 41 TF.t i. not credible in tfes case for a lot of reasons, but primarily because the
^ i ym.-in-.he-b.a„. standardadded » '• "STo f uff—y -
::^aS ftouemovalrf,hi trees wiscontam^lated^^^^
well-drillers, when that contract was entered into and that the Rielys Kne
those trees we're on Mr. Gunjn]' s property,

1  o,. nnd the Rislvs are resnonsible and legally liable.
1.42 So, there was a clear trespass, ana inc jxicivs ate.- a v ̂

CP at 277-82.

The trial court then ruled that the waste statute was tlte more appropriate basis to award
damages because timber trespass damages, which only tnctoded the value of the trees, were "really
useless la terms of restormg to Mr. Gunn what he has lost" CP at 287, The trial eonrt nrled to,
the Rielys had -wrongfully cause[d] waste or injury to the land" under the waste statute, ROW
4.24.630, specifically concluding;

HOT. thk r-is^ the acts were clearly intentional, and as I find the facts, they were;;m.a;onab!e.^TheRietystod^^^
Tntst^er^SS .£;C~a: altematlye. They hnew they had no
authorization to do this.
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2.36 Since the court has concluded that the defendants had no easement over the
"erassy path," since this was the defense raised to trespass, and since the o
the parties are clarified by these findings of fact, conclusions of kw, and the
consequent judgment, the concern for ongoing protection of plaintiff s secunty i.
adequately addressed, and there is no need for an injunction at this time.

CP at 286, 289.

The trial court's judgment, consistently with finding of fact 1.30 and conclusion of law

2.36, stated:

The title of Robert Gumi to the property described in Paragraph 1 above is clewed
of a claim of easement of record described in paragraph 3 above appurt[en]ant to,
or in favor of the owners of, the land described in paragraph 2 above.

CP at 221. With this, the trial court quieted title in Guim against the Rielys' claim of an easement

of record.

The trial court also awarded $ 17,500 attorney fees under the waste statute based on an

affidavit submitted by Gunn's attorney, ruling:

The court finds that $175 per hour is a very reasonable rate for Mr. Mullins [Gunn's
attomeyl based on skill and experience, and that 100 hours is a reasonable ̂ oun
of fime to devote to proving the trespass claim, and $17,500 m fees is awarded.

CP at 216.

In the first appeal, we held that the trial court erred in awarding damages under RCW

4.24.630, the waste statute, and remanded to determine damages under RCW 64. 12.0j0, the timber

trespass statute. Gunn L 185 Wn. App. at 527. We also reversed the attorney fee awarded pursuant

to the waste statute, holding that: lb]ecause we are reversing the trial court's judgment, Guim is

not entitled to attorney fees unless the trial court deteimines that such fees are appropriate under

the timber trespass statute'' Id. at 532-33 (footnote omitted) (emphasis added). We also atfimed
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the trial court's decision to not allow the Rielys to bring a quiet title action for an implied easement.

Id. at 530-32.

On remand, the Rielys moved tlie trial court to determine damages, arguing that Gurm was

only entitled to $459 under the timber trespass statute as treble damages. Gurm responded and
agreed tliat they were entitled to the $459 for trees, but also $17,500 in attorney fees based upon

"equitable" considerations." CP at 226. In reply, the Rielys contended that "there was no basis

upon which an equitable theory would roll into this particular case to allow the Court to award

attorney fees based upon an equitable fee." Report of Proceedings (July 31, ̂,01...) at 11.

The trial court awarded $459 in treble damages and 517,500 m attorney fees, stating in its

memorandum opinion:

In contrast to the waste statute, the timber trespass statute does not provide
for an award of attorney fees. ...

[Gunn], however, argues that attorney fees are recoverable in equity. In
order to base an award in equity, the losing party's conduct must constitute bad
faith, willful misconduct or wantonness.

Interpreting the word "wrongfully" in RCW 4.24.630, the trial court
concluded that;

.  . [the court sets forth the trial court's conclusion of law 2.19 in the initial
proceeding, noted above].

The trial court reached this conclusion after finding that, over a ten yeai period, at
l^asi five confrontations occurred between the Plaintiff and Defendants regarding
their unauthorized use of the Plaintiffs property. The Court found that there vvas
no easement of record and indicated that the Defendants could have learned that
fact from a review of their deed, preliminary title insurance commitment and title
insurance policy.

The Court finds that the conclusion of law specifically, and many of the
findings and conclusions generally, support, a finding that the Defendant's conduct
'rose to the level of bad faith, willful misconduct or wantonness. Consequently,
attorney fees in the amount of $17,500 ai'e awarded to tlie Plaintiff.
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CP at 167-68 (citations and footnotes omitted) (emphasis added).

The Rielys moved for reconsideTation, arguing that the trial court erred in awarding

attorney fees in equity because (1) the lav/ of the case required tlie trial court to follow Gunn s

remand instruction to award attorney fees only if available under the timber trespass statute, (2)

Gunn waived any claim to equitable attorney fees becaaise the issue was raised for the first time

on remand, (3) the prior trial court's findings and conclusions did not support the court's

conclusion that the Rielys had engaged in bad faith, (4) Gunn did not succeed on any equitable-

claim to support an equitable award of attorney fees, and (5) the prior trial court failed to exclude

costs related to Gunn's claim for injunctive relief against the Rielys' well, which had been

voluntarily dismissed. The trial court disagreed and denied reconsideration.

Based on these rulings, the trial court entered findings of fact and conclusions of law, ruling

that the "[prior] trial court concluded that the defendants engaged in willful misconduct." CP at

125. Accordingly, the trial court on remand entered a judgment for $459 in treble timber trespass

damages and $ 17,500 in equitable attorney fees.

After reconsideration was denied, the Rielys moved to be declared the prevailing party

and for "retax[ation]" of costs because Gunn only recovered S459 on the timber trespass claim,

which was less than tiieir offer of settlement pursuant to RCW 4.84.250 and their offer of judgmem

under CR 68. CP at 88-99, 107. Gunn argued that the Rielys were not the prevailing parties,

primarily on the basis that the settlement offers failed to settle his quiet title claim. The trial court

agreed with Gunn and denied the Rielys' motion to be declared the prevailing party under RCW

4.84.250 and CR 68.

The Rielys appeal.
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ANALYSIS

I. The Trial Court's Award of Equitable Attorney Fees on Remand

i. Law of the Case

The Rielys first argue that the remand instruction from our prior opinion limited the trial

court to only determining whetiier attorney fees could be awarded under the timber trespass statute.

We disagree.

As pertinent, the law of the case doctrine "refers to the "binding effect of determinations

made by the appellate court on further proceedings in the trial court on remand'" and "'tlie

principle that an appellate court will generally not make a redeternunation of the niles of law which

it has announced in a prior determination in the same case or which were necessarily implicit in

such prior determination.'" Lutheran Day Care v. Snohomish County, 119 Wn.2d 91, 113, 829

P.2d 746 (1992) (quoting 15 L. Orland & K. Tegland, Wash. Prac., JUDGMENTS § 380, at 55-

56 (4th ed. 1986)). The doctrine is also illuminated by RAP 2.5(c), which states:

Law of die Case Doctrine Restricted. The following provisions apply if the same
case is again before the appellate court fbllowing a remand:

(1) Prior Trial Court Action. If a tiial couit decision is otherwise properly
before the appellate court, the appellate court may at the instance of a party review
and determine the propriety of a decision of the trial court even though a similar
decision was not disputed in an earlier review of the same case.

The bounds of the doctrine were recognized in State v. Kilgore, 167 Wn.2d 28, 42, 216

P.3d 393 (2009), in which the Supreme Court obseiwed;

We held in Barberio, that a trial court' has discretion on remand pursuant to RAP
2.5(c)(1) to revisit issues that were not the subject of an earlier appeal. The trial
court's discretion to resentence on remand is limited by the scope of the appellate
court's mandate.

ID
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(Citations omitted.)- Similarly, the court held in Columbia Steel Co. v. State, 34 Wn.2d 700, 706,

209 P.2d 482 (1949). that "[tjliis question was not considered by this court upon the first appeal,

and we hold that respondent is not precluded from now raising the question, which does not fall

within the rule of 'the law of the case.'"

These opinions, along with RAP 2.5(c)(i) and tlie principles from Lutheran Day Care set

out above, establish that a trial court on remand may review issues originaliy not raised to it so

long as the new issues do not offend the appellate court s holdings.

Turning to the present case, we held in the first appeal that liability was proper under the

timber trespass statute and remanded the case to deteimme damages and to detennme whether

Gunn's request for attorney fees is appropriate under the timber trespass statute. Gunn I, 185 Wn.

App. at 526-27, 532-33. As both parties agree, the tenns of the timber trespass statute do not

provide for an award of attorney fees. See, e.g., Beckmann v. Spokane Transit Autn., 10/ Wn..id

785, 788, 733 P.2d 960 (1987) (citing RCW 64.12.030). This specific remand instruction, though,

must also be read in conjunction with our statement at the end of the opinion: "We reverse the

judgment and remandfor further proceedings consistent with this opinion." Gunn I, 185 Wn. App.

at 533 (emphasis added). Because tlie timber trespass statute does not include an attorney fee

provision, Gunn could argue, consistently with our prior opinion, that attorney fees were

recoverable on an equitable basis for his claim brought under the timber trespass statute.^

- State V. Barberio, 121 Wn,2d 48, 50-51, 846 P.2d 519 (1993).

^ The Rieiys also argue that the trial court's findings pertaining to the waste statute were reversed
However, the obvious implication from our court's remand instruction that the trial court shoulc
determine damages under timber trespass—necessarily required that the trial court s findings
established liability under timber trespass. Thus, this argument fails.

11
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Accordmgly. the trial coart on remand did not viotee the law o( the case doelrine, and it

acted consistently with our prior opinion, in using an equitable theory to award attorney fees,

2. Waiver

Next, the Rielys argue that Gunn waived his claim for an equitable award of attorney fees.

We disagree.

As deteimined above, our prior opinion did not hold that attorney fees under equity were

inapplicable nor did our remand instruction prevent Gunn from arguing such. Instead, consistent
with RAP 2.5(c), it was in the trial court's discretion to determine whether an equitable theory of
attorney fees not previously raised should be addressed for the first time on remand. State v.
Barberio, 121 Wn.2d 48, 50-51, 846 P.2d 519 (1993); State v, Saave, 33 Wn. App. 181, 183 n.2,
652 P.2d 967 (1982). Thus, waiver does not apply.

II. Attorney Fees Awarded in Equity for Bad Faith

1. T .flgal Authority to Award

The Rielys challenge whether attorney fees can be awarded in equity for bad faith conduct

in these circumstances. Specifically, they argue that an award of equitable attorney fees tor bad
faith is only appropriate when a case .mvolves a temporary injunction. We disagree.

Contrary to Gunn's beiiefi whether a trial court has a legal basis to award attorney fees is

a question of law reviewed de novo. Gander v. Yeager, 167 Wn. App. 638, 64/, 282 P.cd HOC
(2012).-^ On the other hand, we review a trial court's decision to award or deny attorney fees and
the reasonableness of any attorney fee award for an abuse of discretion. Id.

' Qmm argues tat .he standard of review is ebtesc
to decide whether an award of attorney fees was appropnate. However, whether

12



No. 48701-2-II

It is well established that attorney fees may be awarded under statute, under contract, or m

equity. Id. at 645. One such basis in equity is bad faith conduct by another party. Rogerson
Hiller Corp. v. Port of Port Angeles, 96 Wn. App. 918, 927, 982 P.2d 131 (1999). We have

previously recognized an equitable award of attorney fees for bad faith under three general tyi^es,
including, as pertinent here, for "prelitigation misconduct." Id. "Prelitigation misconduct refers

to 'obdurate or obstinate conduct that necessitates legal action' to enforce a clearly valid claim or

right." Id. (quoting JANE P. Mallor, Punitive Aitorneys' Fees for Abuses of the Judicial

System, 61 N.C.L. Rev. 613, 632 (1983)).

Citing 5mm V. 5izemo.e, 48 Wn, App. 835, 839, 741 P.2d 572 (1987), the Rielys argue that

'•■equity cannot be a basis for awarding attorney tees unless the cause of action was cognizable in
equity." Br. of Appellant at 21-22. Because timber trespass is a statutory claim, they argue, Gunn
had no claim in equity.

However, the Rielys incorrectly state that Gunn only raised causes of actions m law. As
the trial court aptly analyzed, Gunn's complaint asked for the ti-ial court to q-uiet title in his property
against the Rielys' easement claim, and the trial court expressly quieted title m Gunn against the
Rielys' claim of an easement of record. An action to quiet title "is equitable and designed to
resolve competing claims of ownership," Kobza v. Tripp, 105 Wn. App. 90, 95, 18 P.3d 621

court to explore other theories to award attorney fees is beside the point. The legal basis to award
attomey fees is a question of law reviewed de novo.
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(2001); see also Haueter v. Rancick, 39 Wn. App. 328, 331, 693 P.2d 168 (1984). Thus, Gunn's

successful quiet title action provided a basis in equity to award attorney fees.^

For these reasons, the trial court had legal authority to award Guiui attorney lees in equity

for the Rieiys' bad faith conduct.^

2. Findings of Fact to Support Bad Faith Conclusion

The Rieiys argue that even if the trial court on remand had legal authority to award attorney

fees in equity, it erred because the prior trial court's findings of fact and conclusions of law do not

support a determination of bad faith. We disagree.

.A court awarding attorney fees must provide sufficient findings of fact and conclusions of

law to develop an adequate record for appellate review of a fee award. In re Marriage oj Babbitt,

135 Wn. App. 8, 30, 144 P.3d 306 (2006). Here, the trial court: on remand detennined that the

Rieiys' conduct rose to the level of "bad faith, willful misconduct or wantonness." CP at 168. It

relied on the prior trial court's findings and conclusions, which determined that (I) over a lO-year

period, at least five confrontations occurred between Gumi and the Rieiys regarding the

unauthorized use of Gunn's property, (2) the Rieiys knew tliat the grassy path was entirely on

^ The Rieiys also claim that Gunn failed to show how the available damages under the timber
trespass statute were inadequate. For their argument, the Rieiys cite Sorenson v. Pyeaii, 158 Wn.2d
523, 531, 146 P.3d 1172 (2006), which states, "A court will grant equitable relief only when there
is a showing that a party is entitled to a remedy and the remedy at law is inadequate.''

Here, as discussed above, Gunn is entitled in equity to attorney fees pursuant to his quiet title
claim. The timber trespass statute does not provide for attorney fees under its provisions.^ Thus,
the remedy at law pertaining to attorney fees provides no relief to Gunn, and he was entitled to
argue for an equitable award of attorney fees.

Because Gunn brought an equitable claim against the Rieiys, we do not decide the propriety of
Sizemora's proposition that an underlying equitable claim is a prerequisite for an award of attorney
fees in equity.
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Gunn's property, and (3) despite having ample- avenues to detemiine whether they could legally

travel on the grassy path, they hired a well-driller to trespass on Gunn's property while he was on

vacation, specifically instructing tlie driller to perform "tree removal' on the grassy path. See CP

at 168; CP at 277-79,281-82

These earlier findings support the trial court's conclusion on remand that the Rielys acted

in bad faith. Although the trial court did not categorize the bad faith as "preiitigation misconduct,'

the Rielys' actions fall squarely within its definition set out above. Accordingly, this claim fails,

3. Compatibility of Findings Regarding Waste with Timber Trespass

Next, the Rielys argue that the prior trial court's findings do not support a conclusion of

bad faith because the findings were only applicable to the waste statute, ROW 4.24.630, and

incompatible with a finding of a willful trespass under RCW 64.12.030, For tlie reasons below,

we disagree.

Under the timber trespass statute,

[w]henever any person shall cut down, girdle, or othenvise injure, or carry off any
tree,... timber, or shrub on the land of another person,... without lawful antliority,
... any judgment for the plaintiff shall be for treble tlie amount of damages claimed
or assessed.

RCW 64,12.030. A court will treble the damages awarded under the stamte if the trespass is

"willful." Birchler v. Castello Land Co., 133 Wn.2d 106, 110, 942 P,2d 968 (1997). Generally, a

willful trespass is one in which RCW 64.12.040, tlie mitigating circumstances provision, does not

apply. See id.', Smith v. Shiflett, 66 Wi'i.2d 462,467, 403 P,2d 364 (1965). RCW 64.12.040 reads

in pertinent part:

If upon trial of such action it shall appear that the trespass was casual or involuntary,
or that the defendant had probable cause to believe that the land on which such

15



No. 48701-2-II

trespass was committed was his or her own,. . . judgment shall only be given for
single damages.

(Emphasis added.)

The Rielys contend tiiat the waste statute does not provide for the same mitigating

circumstances available under RCW 64.12.040, and as such, we should exercise our discretion,

reexamine the record and findings on our own, and determine whether tiie Rielys acted with

"probable cause to believe that the land on which such trespass was committed was his own. Br.

of Appellant at 27-29, 38-39 (emphasis omitted). We disagree.

First, the mitigating circumstances provision required the Rielys to have "probable cause

to believe that the land on which such trespass was committed was his or her own." RCW

64.12.040. It. was undisputed that the grassy path was on Gunn's property.

Second, and more to the point, our Supreme Court has held in timber trespass cases that an

Individual has acted "without lawful authority" and that no mitigating circumstances apply, if the

trespassing individual has knowledge of a bona .tide boundaiy-' dispute, yet decides to still trespass

on the disputed area and destroys trees. Mullalfy v. Parks, 29 Wn.2d 899, 911, 190 .P.2d 107

(1948); m^eeler v. FruMing, 54 Wn.2d 483, 487, 341 P.2d 874 (1959). Like the trespassers in

Mu/Ially and feeler, the Rielys were aware that a dispute existed as to whether they had an

easement over the grassy path, and they neglected to check any of the titles or records, which

would have readily shown them that they had no express easement over Gunn's property. Thus,

the Rielys' actions were a willful trespass that did not fail within the mitigating circmnstances of
RCW 64.12.040.

The Rielys also argue that the trial court's findings are inadequate because wrongfulness

under the waste statute differs from a willful trespass under the timber trespass statute. However,

16



No. 48701-2-II

the prior triai court's findings and conclusions that support liability for "wrongfuily" causing waste

necessarily also support liabilitj' for a "willfuP' trespass under the timber trespass statute.

The trial court originally concluded that the Rielys were liable under the waste statute's

second avenue for finding liability. RCW 4.24.630 provides in pertinent part:

Every person who goes onto the land of another and who removes timber, crops,
minerals, or other similar valuable property from the land, or wrongfully causes
waste or injury to the land, or wrongftilly injures personal property or
improvements to real estate on the land, is liable to the injured party for treble the
amount of the damages caused by the removal, waste, or injury. For purposes oj
this section, a person acts "wrongfully" _ if the person intentionally and
unreasonably commits the act or acts while knowing, or having reason to know,
that he or she lacks authorimtion to so act.

(Emphasis added.) The trial court's findings led to its conclusion of law 2.19, which concluded

that the Rielys "wrongfully" caused waste to Gunn's property. CP at 286.

As noted in RCW 4.24.630, one acts "wrongfolly" under the waste statute by acting "while

knowing, or having reason to know, that he or she lacks authorization to so act." One acts

"willfully" under the timber trespass statute if one does not have "probable cause to believe that

the land on which such trespass was committed wa.s his or her own." See Birchler, 13j Wn.^d at

110 n. 2; Smith, 66 Wn.2d at 467; RCW 64.12.040. The trial court determined that the Rielys had

"wrongfully caused waste or injury to the land" under the waste statute, RCW 4.24.630,

specifically concluding in conclusion of law 2.19:

In this case, tlie acts were clearly intentional, and as I find the facts, they were
unreasonable. The Rielys had eveiy reason to believe that they had no nght to do
what they were doing. Even if there was some arguable basis for thinking they had
an easement, trashing the property was not an alternative. They knew they had no
authorization to do this.

CP at 286. The same evidence, discussed above, that supports this conclusion of wrongfulness

under the waste statute would also show that the Rielys did not have probable cause to believe that

17



No. 48701-2-n

the grassy path was their own under the timber trespass statute. Thus, the Rielys^ ciaim that the
findings supporting wrongfulness under the waste starate cannot be the basis for a finding of bad

faith under the timber trespass statute must fail.

The Rielys also point out that the trial court's finding of fact 1.32, concerning Sisson s

statements to tlie Rielys, shows that they had "probable cause" to believe that they had an implied

easement, which, in turn, undermines the trial court's conclusion that they engaged m a willful

trespass. Br. of Appellant at 38. The trial court did recognize that Sisson had made representations

to the Rielys tliat they mlghthave had an easement on Gunivs property. The court still determined,
however, that the Rielys acted wrongfally, i.e., willfully, because they failed to take reasonable

actions tliat would have shown they lacked an easement before trespassing and destroying the trees

on the grassy path. Thus, finding 1.32 does not undennine either of the trial courts' findings or
conclusions.

In short, the findings that support the trial court's determination that the Rielys

"wrongfully" caused waste also support its conclusion that the Rielys willfully trespassed. Thus,

the trial court's findings and conclusions support the trial court's determination of liability for a

willful trespass and bad faith conduct.

III. Other Attorney Fee Issues

1. Proportionality Doctrine

The Rielys argue that we should examine whether the trial court on remand abused its

discretion in awarding attorney fees because, under the proportionality doctrine, it failed to exclude

claims related to the waste statute. The Rielys also argue that the affidavit supporting the amount

of attorney fees only states the hours worked on the waste claim, and that the trial court did not
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reassess the attorney fees figure. However, the Rieiys never made these arguments in the trial

court, and we hold them waived on appeal.

In their motion for damages on remand, their oral representations to the trial court, and

their reconsideration motion, the Rieiys never argued that the trial court should recalculate the

attorney fees because it had included fees for the unsuccessful waste claim. Similarly, the Rieiys

never argued that the affidavit only supported attorney fees related to the waste statute. Instead,

only in their motion for reconsideration did they contend that the trial court on remand should

recalculate the attorney fees because it included fees related to the injunction against the well. The

trial court on remand denied reconsideration on this basis. As such, there is nothing that can be

taken from the Rieiys' arguments that put the trial court on notice that it should have recalculated

the attorney fees based on the unsuccessful waste claim. Thus, we hold these arguments waivea

under R.AP 2.5(a).

2. RCW 4.84.250

The Rieiys argue that the trial court erred in failing to deteimine that they were the

prevailing parties under RCW 4.84.250. We disagree.

Under RCW 4.84.250,

in any action for damages-where -fee- amount plende^ by the prevailing-..paity...as.
hereinafter defined, exclusive of costs, is seven thousand five hundied dollars or
less, there shall be taxed and allowed to the prevailing party as a part of the costs
of the action a reasonable amount to be fixed by the court as attorneys' fees. After
July 1, 1985, the maximum amount of the pleading under this section shall be ten
thousand dollars.

RCW 4.84.270 defines when a defendant should be deemed a prevailing party:

The defendant, or party resisting relief, shall be deemed the prevailing party within
the meaning of RCW 4.84.250, if tire plaintiff, or party seeking relief in an action
for damages where the amount pleaded, exclusive of costs, is equal to or less than
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tiie maximum allowed under RC¥/ 4.84.250, recovers nothing, or if the recovery,
exclusive of costs, is the same or less than the amount offered in settlement by the
defendant, or the party resisting relief, as set forth in RCW 4.84.280.

Before going to trial, the Rieiys offered $1,000 to settle Gumvs timber trespass claim.

Gunn refused to do so. The prior trial court ended up awarding over $20,000 under the waste

statute, $17,500 of which was for attorney fees. Thus, at that time, the Rieiys could not argue that

they prevailed under RCW 4.84.250 and .270.

We then reversed the award of damages under the waste statute and remanded for the court

"to determine damages under RCW 64.12.030, the timber trespass statute." Gunn 1,185 Wn. App.

at 527. The trial court on remand awarded less than $1,000 in damages related to the timber

trespass claim.. However, it aiso awarded $17,500 in attorney fees, which exceeded the Rieiys'

.settlement offer.

In detennining whether a defendant is a prevailing party, RCW 4.84.270 excludes "costs'"

from a plaintiffs recovery. Thus, Gunn's $17,500 award of attorney fees usually "would not be

considered in determining who prevailed. However, as discussed in Part II of this opinion, Gunn's

successful quiet title action enabled the trial court to award attoniey fees in equity. Kobsa, 105

Wn. App. at 95 (".An action to quiet title is equitable and designed to resolve competing claims of

ownership."). The Rieiys' intransigence forced Gunn to file this lawsuit. Gunn represented to the

trial court that he would have accepted a settlement if tlis Rieiys conceded that they had no right

of easement over the grassy path. The Rieiys refused to do so. Thus, the quiet title action, a key

component to Gunn's case, remained unsettled.

Further, the .success of the trespass claim and quiet title action were inextricabiy

intertwined. The trial court on remand awarded, equitable attoriley fees for the same conduct that
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led to the trebling of the- timber trespass claim because Ltie Rielys had no claim to an easement

over Gunn's property. The trial court on remand relied on the trial court's findings that the Rielys

and Gunn had engaged in five confrontations over the unauthorized tise of his property despite the

Rielys knowing it was Gunn's property and having multiple methods to discern whether they could

legally go on the grassy path. The Rielys' obstinate and uninfoimed position resulted in a willful,

bad faith tre.spass onto Gunn's property, which forced Gunn to sue them.

The Rielys argue that the purpose of chapter 4.84 RCW, would he undermined if they are

not declared the prevailing parties. As already noted above, the Rielys never offered to settle

Gunn's quiet title claim, which was an essential part of his lawsuit. Although the Rielys are correct

that the Gunn's quiet title action did not take the lawsuit outside the purview ofchapter 4.84 RCW,'

"[t]he purpose of RCW 4.84.250 is to encourage out-of-court settlements and to penalize parties

who unjustifiably bring or resist small claims." Target Nat 7 Bank v. Higgins, 180 Wn. .App. 165,

173-74 321 P.3d 1215 (2014). The purpose of RCW 4.84.250 would not be served by deeming

the Rielys, wdio offered an incomplete settlement, the prevailing party. Gunn was justified in

continuing to bring his trespass claim in'conjuiiction with the quiet title action when the settlement

offer would not malte him whole. Under these circumstances, the tnal court on remand did not

abuse its discretion in denying the Rielys' motion to declare them the prevailing parties.

' Gunn argues that RCW 4.84.250 does not apply because the Rielys did not off^ to setde the
quiet title action. However, RCW 4.84.250 applies to actions for both equitable re lef^-d
damages. Lay v. Mass, 112 \Vn. App. 818, 821 n.3, 51 P.3d 130 (2002); Hanson v. Estell, 100 Wn.
App. 281, 290, 997 P.2d 426 (2000). Thus, this argument fails.
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3. CR68

Next, the Rieiys contend that they are the prevailing parties under CR 68 because Gunn's

recovery was less than their offer of $ 1,480. We disagree.

CR 68 sets forth a procedure for defendants to offer to settle cases before trial. Lieiz v.

Hansen Law Offices, P.S.C., 166 Wn. App. 571, 581, 271 P.3d 899 (2012). The mle states that

a party defending against a claim may . . . otfer to allow judgment to be taken
agains"t [it] for the money or property or to the effect specified in the defending
party's offer, with costs then accrued If the judgment finally obtained by the
offeree is not more favorable than the offer, the offeree mustpa.y the costs incurred
after the making of the offer.

CR 68. Like RCW 4.84.250, CR 68 aims to encourage parties to reach settlement agreements and

to avoid lengthy litigation. Lietz, 166 Wn. App. at 581. The rule achieves this objective by shifting

costs of litigation to a plaintiff who rejects a defendant s CR 68 offer and does not achieve a more

favorable result at trial. Id.

For the same reason as witli RCW 4.84.250, the Rieiys are not entitled to fees under CR

68. The Rieiys' CR 68 offer did not resolve Gunn's quiet titie action, which was intertwined with

his successful trespass claim. The quiet title action provided a basis to award the S17,500 in

equitable attorney fees. Inclusion of tlie equitable attorney fee award far exceeds the Rieiys CR

68 offer. Accordingly, the Rieiys' contention fails,

W. Attorney Fees ON Appeal

The Rieiys request an award of attorney fees and costs from the first appeal and this appeal

under RCW 4.84.250, .290 and RAP 18.1. However, the Rieiys are not the prevailmg parties, and

we thus deny their requests.
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Gunn requests an award of attorney fees on appeal under RAP 18.1 and equitable

principles. Aitbough the Rielys' bad faith conduct prior to litigation supplied an appropriate basis

to award attorney fees in equity at the trial court level, Gurni has not shown that this appeal was

conducted in bad faith. Accordingly, we deny Gunn's request for attorney fees on appeal.

CONCLUSION

We affirm the trial court's judgment awarding Gunn treble damages under the timber

trespass statute and equitable attorney fees for the Rielys' bad faith conduct.

A majority of the panel having detennined that this opinion will not be printed in the

Washington Appellate Reports, but will be filed for public record in accordance with ROW 2.06.040,

it is so ordered.

We concur;

^E,J.

Melnick, J.
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